III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING 

RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PETITIONER'S 

COUNTERCLAIM AND IN FAILING TO GRANT PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PETITIONER'S COUNTERCLAIM FOR EACH OF 

THE FOLLOWING: 

I. The circuit court erred in finding as a matter of law that W. Va. Code Ann. § 11A

3-22 does not require the mailing of notice by first class mail, addressed to "Occupant", 

in the case of Petitioner's Class II property and that the reading of the statute in such a 

light is a "hyper technical interpretation and would be nonsensical." 

II. The circuit court erred in finding that as a matter of law the tax lien purchaser 

(Respondent) satisfied the statutory requirements ofW. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-3-22(d) and 

could rely upon notice by publication under W. Va. Code Ann. §11A-3-22(d) despite the 

absence of evidence that the tax lien purchaser exercised any due diligence to provide 

actual notice to the taxpayer (Petitioner) of the right of redemption following the return of 

certified mail "unclaimed". 

III. The circuit court erred in failing to set aside the tax sale deed upon the tax lien 

purchaser's failure to provide evidence that it exercised due diligence in an attempt to 

provide actual notice to the owner following the return of unclaimed certified mail 

sufficient to satisfy due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution and section 10 of the Constitution of West Virginia for the taking of 

property. 
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IV. The circuit court erred in finding as a matter of undisputed fact that further 

efforts to provide actual notice would have been futile and in its application of a 

judicially manufactured standard that the exercise of due diligence by tax lien purchaser 

after the return of unclaimed certified mail is unnecessary if additional efforts to provide 

actual notice may be futile. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Respondent, US Liens, brought an action to quiet title to a property it acquired by 

tax sale deed in April 2015. Petitioner, Julianne Archuleta, as the property owner, filed 

counterclaims alleging the provisions of W. Va. Code Ann. §11A-3-19(1) and §11A-4-4 

required the purported tax sale deed to be set aside by reason of (1) US Liens' failure to 

exercise due diligence to provide notice of the right to redeem following the return of 

"unclaimed" certified mail as required by W. Va. Code Ann. §l1A-3-22; (2) US Liens' 

failure to adhere to the mandated notice requirement for the mailing of notice addressed 

to "Occupant" as mandated by §11A-3-22(d); and (3) following the return of certified 

mail unclaimed, US Liens' failure to exercise due diligence to provide actual notice to the 

owner sufficient to satisfy the guarantees of due process afforded by the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and section 10 of the Constitution of West 

Virginia for the taking of property . 

. Archuleta filed a motion for summary judgment on January 17, 2017, which was 

denied as premature by the Circuit Court on February 28,2017, pending the taking of the 

deposition testimony of Archuleta according to the Rule 56(f) affidavit of US Liens' 

attorney filed in opposition to the dispositive motion. The deposition of Juliann Archuleta 
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was taken on March 8, 2017. The testimony of Archuleta was consistent with her 

discovery responses and Rule 56 affidavit previously filed in support of her summary 

judgment motion. The material facts did not change as a result of the deposition. 

Following Archuleta's deposition, Archuleta renewed her motion for summary 

judgment. 

The trial of March 16, 2017, was continued over Archuleta's objection by the 

court until May 16, 2017, upon the motion ofUS Liens who claimed an inability to serve 

a material witness with a subpoena to appear. 

On April 4, 2017, premised exclusively upon its memorandum in opposition to 

Archuleta's renewed motion for summary judgment, US Liens moved in a conclusory 

fashion for summary judgment. 

On May 10, 2017, ten days before trial, and without the benefit of a hearing, the 

Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Respondent, US Liens, LLC, a 

Maryland Limited Liability Company, and denied summary judgment in favor of 

Petitioner, Julianna S. Archuleta. 

B. FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. US Liens Limited Liability Company (hereinafter referred to as "US 

Liens") is a foreign company organized and existing in the State of Maryland and 

Subhash C. Gupta (hereinafter refelTed to as "Gupta"), is the sole member of the 

company and is a resident of Maryland. (App. I, 15,30.) 

2. Juliann S. Archuleta (hereinafter referred to as "Archuleta"), is a seventy

year-old resident of the State of West Virginia. (App. I, 370; App. III, 68.) 

3 




3. The real estate at 2801 Poorhouse Road, Martinsburg, Berkeley County, 

West Virginia, was acquired by Juliann S. Archuleta and her late father, J. Gilbert 

Archuleta, on June 23, 1994, by deed of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County 

Council of Berkeley County, West Virginia, in Deed Book 529, at page 278 (hereinafter 

referred to as "the Property"). (App. I, 183-84.) 

4. Archuleta extended her purchase money lender a deed of trust against the 

Property, which was made of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Council of 

Berkeley County, West Virginia, in Deed of Trust Book 529, at page 278. (App. I, 185; 

App. III, 19.) 

5. Archuleta satisfied the loan secured by the purchase money deed of trust 

in calendar year 2012 and a release of the purchase money deed of trust dated November 

30, 2012, was recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the County Council of Berkeley 

County, West Virginia, in Release Book 428 at page 648. (App. I, 185; App. III, 20.) 

6. From the purchase of the Property until 2012, an escrow arrangement 

whereby Archuleta made monthly payments into an escrow account maintained by her 

lender with respect to ad valorem taxes was associated with the mortgage on the 

Property. (App. III, 24.) 

7. The Property was classified as Class II property and ad valorem taxes for 

all years prior to the 2012 tax year were paid through this escrow arrangement by the 

lender. (App. I, 235; App. III, 26.) 

8. Because of the existence of the escrow agreement, tax tickets if received 

by Archuleta required no action on the part of Archuleta by pattern or practice. (App. III, 

29-30.) 
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9. Once Archuleta satisfied the loan in 2012 the escrow arrangement ceased 

operating. (App. I, 185; App. III, 26.) 

10. Pursuant to W. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-2-10, tax liens on real estate may be 

sold for the unpaid ad valorem taxes assessed thereon in the manner prescribed by Article 

3 Chapter 11A. 

11. W. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-3-1, in relevant part, declares that " ... in view of 

the rights of owners of real property to adequate notice and an opportunity for redemption 

before they are divested of their interests in real property for failure to pay taxes ..." the 

purpose behind its legislative enactment was "(3) to secure adequate notice to owners 

of delinquent and non entered property of the pending issuance of a tax deed ..." and " .. 

. (5) that such sales may be conducted in an efficient maImer while respecting the due 

process rights of owners of real property". Id. (emphasis added). 

12. Based on the provisions ofW. Va. Code Ann. §11A-3-5(a) and because of 

Archuleta's failure to recognize the cessation of the escrow arrangement between 

Archuleta and her lender, the 2012 ad valorem taxes were not paid and the Sheriff sold 

the statutory lien securing the payment of the 2012 taxes ("2012 tax lien") on November 

19,2013. (App. I, 251, 300.) 

13. US Liens was the purchaser of the 2012 tax lien on the Property. (App. I, 

251,346.) 

14. US Liens was issued a certificate of sale for the Property by the Sheriff for 

the purchase of the 2012 tax lien against Archuleta's home. (App. 1,251,346.) 

15. Subsequent to the occurrence of a sale by a sheriff, W. Va. Code Ann. 

§l1A-3-19(a) mandates certain requirements that a purchaser of a real property tax lien 
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must observe, fulfill, and satisfy prior to applying for and receiving a deed granting and 

conveying to such purchaser the real property encumbered by the applicable tax lien. 

16. Among the foregoing, mandatory, statutory requirements is the 

requirement that "[a]t any time after October 31 of the year following the sheriffs sale, 

and on or before December 31 of the same year, the purchaser, his or her heirs or assigns, 

in order to secure a deed for the real estate subject to the tax lien or liens purchased, shall: 

(1) Prepare a list of those to be served with notice to redeem and request the State 

Auditor to prepare and serve the notice as provided in sections twenty-one and twenty

two of this article ...." 

17. W. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-3-19(a) provides that "[i]fthe purchaser fails to 

meet these requirements, he or she shall lose all the benefits ofhis or her purchase." 

18. W. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-3-22(d) in relevant part provides: 

In addition to the other notice requirements set forth in this section, if 
the real property subject to the tax lien was classified as Class II property 
at the time of the assessment, at the same time the State Auditor issues the 
required notices by certified mail, the State Auditor shall fonvard a 
copy of the notice sent to the delinquent taxpayer by first class mail 
addressed to "Occupant", to the physical mailing address for the 
subject property. The physical mailing address for the subject property 
shall be supplied by the purchaser of the tax lien pursuant to the provisions 
of section nineteen of this article. Where the mail is not deliverable to an 
address at the physical location of the subject property, the copy of the 
notice shall be sent to any other mailing address that exists to which the 
notice would be delivered to an occupant of the subject property. 

ld. (emphasis added). 

19. US Liens prepared a list of those to be served with a notice to redeem and 

submitted it to the State Auditor. (App. I, 111.) Archuleta is listed as a party holding the 

right of redemption. (App. I, 111.) 
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20. US Liens' list as submitted to the State Auditor does not disclose or 

request that a notice to redeem be addressed to "Occupant" and sent by First Class Mail 

to the physical address for the subject property as required by §11A-3-22. (App. I, 111; 

App. II, 17-19.) 

21. US Liens' list identified only four (4) persons or entities to be notified: J. 

Gilbert Archuleta, Juliann S. Archuleta, the West Virginia State Tax Department, and the 

West Virginia Department ofTax and Revenue. (App. I, 111.) 

22. None of the envelopes containing the redemption notice were returned 

"Refused". CAppo I, 347-48.) 

23. The envelope containing the redemption notice sent by certified mail 

addressed to Archuleta at 2801 Poorhouse Road, Martinsburg, WV 25403 was 

undeliverable and returned "unclaimed". (App. I, 347.) 

24. The certified mail containing the redemption notice was returned 

unclaimed and failed to reach Archuleta as a direct result of Archuleta's unplanned 

hospitalization in Arlington, Virginia. (App. I, 370; App. III, 33, 36.) 

25. During 2011, 2012, and continuing today, Archuleta suffers from immune 

deficiency disorder, vertigo, lupus heart, R.A., chronic fatigue, and fibromyalgia. CAppo 

III, 11,J6, 35, 38.) 

26. While visiting a friend, Archuleta was unexpectedly hospitalized at 

Arlington Hospital from January 10,2015, through January 31, 2015, during which time 

she was on continuing bedrest and subsequently transferred to a nursing facility for 

rehabilitative services that continued through the entirety of February and March 2015. 

(App. I, 370; App. III, 33, 36.) 
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27. Archuleta was only able to return home for her continuing care on April 7, 

2015. CAppo I, 371; App. III, 36.) 

28. Simultaneous with the certified mail, US Liens caused an advertisement 

titled "Notice of Delinquent Taxes for Property" to be published in the Martinsburg 

Journal three (3) times between January 28, 2015, and February 11,2015, none of which 

were seen or made known to Archuleta prior to the issuance of the Tax deed because of 

her continuing inpatient care at the nursing facility in Virginia. CAppo I, 339-40, 370; 

App. III, 56.) US Liens offered no evidence to rebut Archuleta's lack of knowledge of the 

tax sale or her right to redeem. CAppo II, 39-40.) 

29. On April 8, 2015, US Liens was reminded by the West Virginia State 

Auditors Office that personal service still needed to be accomplished. CAppo I, 360.) 

30. Despite such opportunity and prompting, US Liens affirmatively declined 

and confirmed by email from Gupta to the State Auditors office that US Liens was 

electing to proceed without perfecting personal service of the notice upon Archuleta 

following the return of the certified mail notices "undeliverable/unclaimed". CAppo I, 360; 

App. II, 44-47.) 

31. Under W. Va. Code Ann. §l1A-3-22Cd), two prerequisites must be 

satisfied before the tax sale purchaser can proceed to rely upon a notice of a right of 

redemption by publication. First, the person entitled to notice "cannot be discovered by 

due diligence on the party of the purchaser". Second, "service by publication must be 

necessary" . 

32. Not only were the whereabouts of Archuleta discoverable by due diligence 

throughout January, February, March, and April 2015, but US Liens has confirmed that it 
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did not exercise reasonable due diligence in attempting to ascertain the whereabouts of 

Archuleta during this redemption period. (App. I, 32.) In verified discovery responses and 

deposition testimony, US Liens affirms that no additional follow up efforts or steps were 

undertaken to give Archuleta actual notice when the certified mail envelopes containing 

the redemption notice were returned undelivered and unclaimed by Archuleta. (App. I, 

32-33; App. II,29-31.) 

33. US Liens took no steps following the return of the "unclaimed" certified 

mailing to give Archuleta actual notice. No visit to the property was undertaken, no 

private process server was ever retained or consulted, no posting of the property was 

undertaken, no search for a phone number was made, and no inquiry of any neighbor was 

considered or pursued. (App. III, 29-31, 35-36.) In fact, US Liens testified that it did not 

know who was living as the property, if anyone. (App. II, 38-39.) 

34. By deed dated April 1,2015, made by and between G. Russell Rollyson, 

Jr., appointee of the Honorable Glen B. Gainer, III, State Auditor, as the Grantor, and US 

Liens, as the Grantee, was placed on record in the Office of the Clerk of the County 

Council of Berkeley County, West Virginia on April 13, 2015, in Deed Book 1101 at 

page 384 (hereinafter referred to as "tax sale deed"). (App. I, 110, 187.) 

35. During Archuleta's hospitalization and rehabilitation stay, a caretaker came 

to the Property daily to feed animals and let the dogs out. This caretaker and Archuleta's 

neighbors were aware of her hospitalization and whereabouts had they been asked by US 

Liens, a process server or another. (App. II, 35.) 
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36. After receiving the tax sale deed, US Liens indeed took additional steps to 

visit the property and cause to be delivered to her a written demand to vacate the Property 

or repurchase it. (App. I, 293; App. 11,35.) 

v. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

W. Va. Code Ann. section llA-4-1 provides: 

In furtherance of the policy declared in Section 1, Article 3 of this 
Chapter, it is the intent and purpose of the legislature to provide 
reasonable opportunities for delinquent taxpayers to protect their interests 
in their lands and to provide reasonable remedies and certain 
circumstances for persons with interest in delinquent and escheated lands. 

W. Va. Code Ann. §llA-4-l. 

The remedy for a tax sale deed delivered without the purchaser's compliance with 

W. Va. Code Ann. §llA-3-19 is found in W. Va. Code Ann. §llA-4-3(a). In relevant 

part, it provides: 

Whenever the Clerk of the County Commission ... has delivered a deed 
to a purchaser who was not entitled thereto ... because of his failure to 
meet the requirements of Section 19 of said Article, 3, ... the owner of 
such property, his heirs and assigns, or the person who redeemed the 
property, may before the expiration of three (3) years following the 
delivery of a deed, institute a civil action to set aside the deed .... 

W. Va. Code Ann. §IIA-4-3(a). 

The remedy to set aside a tax sale deed obtained without notice to the owner as 

required under W. Va. Code Ann. §llA-3-22 is found in W. Va. Code Ann. §llA-4-4, 

wherein it reads: 

If any person entitled to be notified under the provisions of section 
twenty-two or fifty-five, Article 3 of this Chapter is not served with the 
notice as herein required, and does not have actual knowledge that such 
notice has been given to others in time to protect his interests by 
redeeming the property, he, his heirs and assigns may, before the 
expiration of three (3) years following the delivery of a deed, institute a 
civil action to set aside the deed .... 
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W. Va. Code Ann. §l1A-4-4. 

The tax sale deed dated April 1, 2015, was delivered to US Liens by the Auditor's 

Office on April 8, 2015, less than three years ago. Archuleta was the owner of record 

entitled to (1) notice of redemption pursuant to W. Va. Code Ann. §11A-3-19, (2) service 

of that notice of redemption in accordance with all the requirements ofW. Va. Code Ann. 

§ 11A-3-22, and (3) the guarantees of due process afforded by the United States 

Constitutions and the Constitution of West Virginia for the taking ofproperty. 

The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred in granting summary judgment to US 

Liens and should have set aside the tax sale deed to US Liens for the Archuleta property 

as a matter of law because (1) US Liens failed to satisfy the requirements of W. Va. Code 

Ann. §11A-3-19(a) and §11A-3-22(d) by failing to request and obtain service of the 

redemption notice by first class mail addressed to "Occupant" at 2801 Poorhouse Road, 

Martinsburg, WV 25403 as statutorily mandated; (2) US Liens may not rely upon notice 

by mere publication absent first exercising due diligence to provide actual notice to the 

property owner following the return of certified mail unclaimed, regardless of the actual 

or potential success of those efforts; (3) US Liens failed to exercise due diligence to 

provide actual notice to Archuleta following the return of the notice sent by certified mail 

'unclaimed' in violation of § 11A-3-22( d) and the constitutional guarantees of due process 

for the taking of property; and (4) US Liens was erroneously excused from having to 

demonstrate that it exercised due diligence to try and provide actual notice to the land 

owner upon the return of the unclaimed mail, because of the application of an erroneous 

standard eliminating the requirement of due process upon a finding that such efforts 

would have proven unsuccessful. 
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VI. STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT 


Under the criteria of Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate 

Procedure, the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided. However, the 

Circuit Court did not follow those authoritative decisions and has instead declared the 

2010 amendment to the taking statute nonsensical and of no consequences. The 

elimination of the same by judicial decree will result in the statute's constitutionality 

being called into question. The presentation of oral argument could therefore 

significantly benefit the decisional process. 

Oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate 

Procedure is appropriate. The court's interpretation of §l1A-3-22(d) and the Circuit 

Court's ruling that compliance with the statute's clear language, which requires a 

mailing of the notice to redeem addressed to "Occupant", is "hyper technical" and to 

require it would be "nonsensical" is one of first impression. Additionally, the taking 

of property by tax sale deed (1) is of fundamental interest to the public and (2) 

involves the constitutional question ofwhat level of due diligence a tax lien purchaser 

must demonstrate in the giving of notice after the return of certified mail "unclaimed" 

in order to rely upon service by publication under §11A-3-22(d). 

VII. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 US Liens failed to request service of the redemption notice by mail addressed 
to "Occupant" at 2801 Poorhouse Road, Martinsburg, WV 25403, as 
statutorily mandated by W. Va. Code Ann. §l1A-3-19(a), and failed to serve 
the redemption notice by mail addressed to the "Occupant" at 2801 
Poorhouse Road, Martinsburg, WV 25403, as statutorily mandated by W. 
Va. Code Ann. §11A-3-22(d). 

To ensure the protection of a property owner's declared right to notice and due 

process, subsequent to the occurrence of a" tax sale by a Sheriff, W. Va. Code Ann. § 11A
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3-l9(a) mandates certain requirements that a purchaser of a tax lien must observe, fulfill,

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