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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


US Liens substantially complied with W.Va. Code §11A-3-22 (2017). Specifically, US 

Liens attempted to serve Archuleta by both certified and regular mail. App 1,40,347-348. US 

Liens published notice in a local newspaper. App 1,40,339. Most notably, US Liens attempted 

to personally serve Archuleta. App 1,40,354. 

US Liens provided the physical address of the subject property to the WV State Auditor, 

who then failed to specifically send a notice to an "Occupant" of the property. However, this 

action would be been futile, and US Liens did take additional steps to satisfy due process 

requirements, as outlined above. 

The Circuit Court correctly determined that US Liens exercised due diligence and 

substantially complied with applicable law. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent agrees with the Petitioner that oral argument may assist the Court in 

reviewing this matter. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is 

proper where the record demonstrates "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and 

that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter oflaw." As a result of that plan 

language, this Court's standards of review concerning summary judgment have become well 

settled. Mason v. Smith, 233 W.Va. 673,677 (2014). Syllabus Point 3 ofAetna Casualty and 

Surety Company v. Federal Insurance Company o/New York, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 

(1963) holds: "[a] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that 

there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to 

clarity the application of law." 
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As set forth in Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994), a circuit court's 

entry of summary judgment "is reviewed de novo." 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT NOTICE TO 
ARCHULETA WAS SUFFICIENT, ALTHOUGH THE WV STATE AUDITOR 
DID NOT SPECIFICALLY ADDRESS A SEPARATE NOTICE TO AN 
"OCCUPANT" OF THE PROPERTY. 

As set forth in W.Va. Code §11A-3-22: Service ofNotice: 

.. .In addition to the other notice requirements set forth in this section, if the real 
property subject to the tax lien was classified as Class II property at the time of 
the assessment, at the same time the State Auditor issues the required notices by 
certified mail, the State Auditor shall forward a copy of the notice sent to the 
delinquent taxpayer by first class mail, address to "Occupant", to the physical 
mailing address for the subject property. The physical mailing address for the 
subject property shall be supplied by the purchaser of the tax lien pursuant to the 
provisions of section nineteen of this article. Where the mail is not deliverable to 
an address at the physical location of the subject property, the copy of the notice 
shall be sent to any other mailing address that exists to which the notice would be 
delivered to an occupant of the subject property. 

Based upon a clear reading of this provision, it was the WV State Auditor's 

responsibility, and not Respondent's, to send a separate notice to an "Occupant" ofthe property. 

There is no dispute that US Liens provided the physical address of the property to the WV State 

Auditor, as required by the Statute. 

Mr. Subhash Gupta, authorized representative for US Liens, testified that he believed that 

the WV State Auditor was to send a separate notice to any "Occupant" of the property. He stated 

as follows: 

Q. 	 Do you intend for Ms. Weese to testify at the trial of this matter? 
A. 	 We - I think Chris has requested her but hasn't been able to serve her. 
Q. 	 Do you intend to waive any attorney-client privilege that exists between 

you and Ms. Weese at trial? 
A. 	 I don't have any problem. 
Q. 	 Do you have any idea what information she holds that you want her to 

testify to at trial? 
A. 	 She indicated to me that this question of the occupant that we didn't serve, 

the state auditor is supposed to do it for a Class II property, and she pulled 
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out some - something from the website and said to me that that's what it 
was. 

Q. 	 That is was his job to have done that? 
A. 	 Correct. 
Q. 	 And it was not her job but the state auditor's job to make sure something 

was mailed addressed to the occupant? 
A. 	 Because if the property has a physical address, a Class II property, then it 

was his job to do it. 
Q. 	 Did she express to you an opinion as to why he did not do it? 
A. 	 No, I haven't - I have no idea. 

See Subhash C. Gupta Deposition Transcript, App. II, 17-18. 

D. Frank Hill, III, Esq., retained expert for Archuleta, testified regarding certain Form 

Instructions that are sent each year by the WV State Auditor to tax lien purchasers. As 

confirmed by Exhibit 2 to Mr. Hill's deposition, these Form Instructions did not specifically state 

that the tax lien purchaser was required to send notice to an "Occupant." Specifically, Mr. Hill 

testified as follows: 

Q. 	 So my question would: The statute changed prior to 2016 at some point? 
A. 	 Yes, sir. 
Q. 	 And so the instructions for 2016 would then presumably have the same 

instructive language as it relates to "occupant"? 
A. 	 Well, I don't know. 
Q. 	 Okay, Well, why don't-
A. 	 I don't know whether-
Q. 	 Why don't you look, and the language that you referred to, my question is: 

Is it in this letter? 
A. 	 My rapid review of it says no. 
Q. 	 Okay. 
A. 	 The precise language is not. The closest you're going to get to that is on 

page 2-
Q. 	 Right. 
A. 	 -- subparagraph parenthesis 2 -
Q. 	 Right. 
A. 	 -- where it identifies if as a "Class II." 

See D. Frank Hill, III, Esq. Deposition Transcript, App. IV, 61. 

As set forth in the Form Instructions provided by the WV State Auditor: 

(2) 	 When the real property subject to the tax lien is classified as Class II 
property, provide the State Auditor with the physical mailing address of 
the property that is subject to the tax lien or liens purchased. Where the 
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mail is not deliverable to an address at the physical location of the subject, 
the copy of the notice shall be sent to any other mailing address that exists 
to which the notice would be delivered to an occupant of the subject 
property. 

Supp. App. I, 1-5. 

The 2016 Form Instructions sent out each year by the WV State Auditor only included 

the requirement that the tax lien purchaser provide the physical address of the property. Supp. 

App. I, 1-5. There is no dispute that US Liens provided the physical address to the WV State 

Auditor. The WV State Auditor failed to provide notice to an "Occupant" of the property. US 

Liens should not be penalized for this technical oversight. Importantly, Archuleta could have 

joined the WV State Auditor as a party-defendant in this matter, but did not. 

Indeed, in 0 'Neal v. Wisen, 2017 WL 3274437 (2017), the United States District Court 

for the Southern District of West Virginia, Judge Irene Berger presiding, addressed the issue of 

joining the WV State Auditor as a party-Defendant. Judge Berger opined as follows: 

Under West Virginia law, the purchaser of a tax-delinquent property is 
responsible for conducting the title search and obtaining the names and addresses 
to which notice should be sent. Mr. Rollyson [G. Russell Rollyson, Jr.
appointed Deputy Commissioner of Delinquent and Nonentered Lands], however, 
is responsible for serving the notice, and, ultimately, approving the tax deed ...The 
statute requires the purchaser to supply the address, but directs the deputy 
commissioner to send a copy of the notice, by first class mail, to 'Occupant,' at 
either the physical mailing address or any other mailing address to which notice 
would be delivered to an occupant of the property. W.Va. Code § lIA-3-55.! 

ld at 5. 

Judge Berger then determined that the Deputy Commissioner was not entitled to qualified 

immunity for his actions and/or omissions therein. The Court clarified this determination: 

Mr. Rollyson argues that his role is merely ministerial, and the actions of his 
office are prescribed by statute. The Court does not find that the statute requires 
Mr. Rollyson to issue deeds following inadequate notice. Indeed, the suggestion 
that state law requires Mr. Rollyson to give deeds to purchasers who have not 

! The language as set forth in W.Va. Code § lIA-3-55 mirrors the language as set forth in W.Va. 
Code § lIA-3-22, the difference in 0 'Neal being that the State purchased the tax lien. 

5 



fulfilled their statutory and constitutional duty to properly identify and seek to 
notify owners, borders on the absurd. Although the statute does not specify that 
additional reasonable attempts to located and notify property owners are required 
when an initial attempt fails, it cannot reasonably by read to preclude such a 
requirement, particularly in light of the precedent. 

Id at Footnote No.4. 

Although the Court in the 0 'Neal case determined that the actions taken to provide notice 

to all interested parties were not adequate to satisfy due process requirements, the possible 

culpability of the Deputy Commissioner, is relevant in this matter. Archuleta could have named 

the WV State Auditor as a party-defendant for his failure to send notice to an "Occupant" of the 

property. She chose not to, and US Liens should not be penalized for this technical oversight. 

Nevertheless, in this matter, sending notice to an "Occupant" of the property would have 

been futile. The purpose of W.Va. Code IIA-3-22, as amended, is to ensure that one actual 

occupying the subject premises receives notice of the tax lien purchase. For example, if the 

premises was occupied by a tenant, it is presumed that this tenant will advise the landlord / 

owner of said notice. "Purpose of requiring written notice to occupant or person in possession of 

land before taking of tax deed to the land is to make it possible for owner or occupant to redeem 

the premises from tax lien." Clouse v. Ruplinger, 233 Wis. 626,290 N.W. 133 (1940). In this 

matter, Archuleta owned and resided at the property, but was temporarily away from the 

residence during the subject time period. Such a notice to an "Occupant" would have 

presumably been returned "UNCLAIMED," similar to the other mailed notices to Archuleta. 

The "Occupant" is indeed Ms. Archuleta. 

The Circuit Court correctly recognized that Archuleta was both the delinquent taxpayer 

and "Occupant" of the subject property: 

...Here, it is undisputed that the property was classified as a Class II, however, it 
is also undisputed that the delinquent taxpayer, Ms. Archuleta, was the occupant 
of the subject property and that she received first class mail addressed to her true 
name. Her only defense is that she did not read her mail because she was not 
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home. Mr. Archuleta did not change residence, she continued to manage her 
affairs and business dealings, she was never deemed incompetent, she arranged a 
caretaker [to] walk her dogs daily. While it is regrettable that Ms. Archuleta was 
hospitalized, it does not toll the redemption deadline. Ms. Archuleta would not 
have received any additional notice had a second first class letter been delivered 
to her under a pseudonym. 

App I, 11. 

Based upon these facts, the Circuit Court did not err in determining that notice to 

Archuleta was sufficient, although the WV State Auditor did not specifically address a separate 

notice to an "Occupant" of the property. 

B. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT US LIENS 
SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLIED WITH THE STATUTORY NOTICE 
REQUIREMENTS AS SET FORTH IN W.VA. CODE llA-3-22. 

As confirmed by the West Virginia State Auditor record and the testimony of the parties 

and relevant witnesses, US Liens substantially complied with the statutory notice requirements, 

and took several additional steps in the attempt to. notify the Petitioner. As set forth in W.Va. 

Code lIA-3-22 (2017): Service ofNotice: 

(a) As soon as the State Auditor has prepared the notice provided in section 
twenty-one of this article, he or she shall cause it to be served upon all persons 
named on the list generated by the purchaser pursuant to the provisions of section 
nineteen of this article. 

(b) The notice shall be served upon all persons residing or found in the state in 
the manner provided for serving process commencing a civil action or by certified 
mail, return receipt requested. The notice shall be served on or before the thirtieth 
day following the request for notice. 

(c) If the person entitled to notice is a nonresident of this state, whose address is 
known to the purchaser, he or she shall be served at that address by certified mail, 
return receipt requested. 

(d) If the address of a person entitled to notice, whether a resident or nonresident 
of this state, whether a resident or nonresident of this state, is unknown to the 
purchaser and cannot be discovered by due diligence on the part of the purchaser, 
the notice shall be served by pUblication as a Class 111-0 legal advertisement in 
compliance with the provisions of article three, chapter fifty-nine of this code and 
the publication are for the publication shall be the county in which the real estate 
is located. If service by publication is necessary, publication shall be commenced 
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when personal service is required as set forth in this section and a copy of the 
notice shall at the same time be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the last known address of the person to be served. The return of service of the 
notice and the affidavit of publication, if any, shall be in the manner provided for 
process generally and shall be filed and preserved by the State Auditor in his or 
her office, together with any return receipts for notices sent by certified mail. 

In addition to the other notice requirements set forth in this section, if the real 
property subject to the tax lien was classified as Class II property at the time of 
the assessment, at the same time the State Auditor issues the required notices by 
certified mail, the State Auditor shall forward a copy of the notice sent to the 
delinquent taxpayer by first class mail, address to "Occupant", to the physical 
mailing address for the subject property. The physical mailing address for the 
subject property shall be supplied by the purchaser of the tax lien pursuant to the 
provisions of section nineteen of this article. Where the mail is not deliverable to 
an address at the physical location of the subject property, the copy of the notice 
shall be sent to any other mailing address that exists to which the notice would be 
delivered to an occupant of the subject property. 

Pursuant to W.Va. Code § 11A-4-4 (2017): Right to set aside deed when one entitled to 

notice not qualified: 

(a) If any person entitled to be notified under the provisions of section twenty
two or fifty-five, article three of this chapter is not served with the notice as 
therein required, and does not have actual knowledge that such notice has been 
given to others in time to protect his interests by redeeming the property, he, his 
heirs and assigns, may, before the expiration of three years following the delivery 
ofthe deed, institute a civil action to set aside the deed. No deed shall be set aside 
under the provisions of this section until payment has been made or tendered to 
the purchaser, or his heirs or assigns, of the amount which would have been 
required for redemption, together with any taxes which have been paid on the 
property since delivery of the deed, with interest as the rate oftwelve percent per 
annum. 

(b) No title acquired pursuant to this article shall be set aside in the absence of a 
showing by clear and convincing evidence that the person who originally acquired 
such title failed to exercise reasonably diligent efforts to provide notice of his 
intention to acquire such title to the complaining party or his predecessors in title. 

(c) Upon a preliminary finding by the court that the deed will be set aside 
pursuant to this section, such amounts shall be paid within one month of the entry 
thereof. Upon the failure to pay the same within said period oftime, the court 
shall upon the request of the purchaser, enter judgment dismissing the action with 
prejudice. 
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Accordingly, Archuleta cannot have the valid tax deed set aside unless is it proven, by 

clear and convincing evidence, that US Liens failed to exercise reasonably diligent efforts to 

provide notice to the Petitioner. 

Although this case presents a new fact pattern regarding the actions taken by US Liens to 

provide proper notice to Archuleta, the issues are not of first impression. Indeed, both state and 

federal opinions can assist this Court in its review. 

In Cogar v. Lafferty, 219 W.Va. 743 (2006), this Court deemed the actions taken by the 

tax lien purchaser to be sufficient after notice was sent by certified mail, returned 

"UNCLAIMED," and then effectuated by newspaper publication. Id at 747. More recently, as 

defined in Mason v. Smith, 233 W.Va. 673 (2014), the Court determined that the tax lien 

purchaser failed to exercise reasonably diligent efforts. Specifically, the tax lien purchaser, 

Sunrise Atlantic, LLC ("Sunrise"), only attempted to serve the prior owners (the "Catalanos") by

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